FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/5/2019 1:50 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

97621-0 No. 51498-2-II

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

FREEDOM FOUNDATION,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES ("DSHS"),

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE WASHINTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Sydney Phillips, WSBA #54295 P.O. Box 552, Olympia, WA 98507 p. 360.956.3482 | f. 360.352.1874 SPhillips@freedomfoundation.com

Attorney for Petitioner, Freedom Foundation

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

Freedom Foundation (the "Foundation") is the Petitioner, and Plaintiff at the trial court. The Foundation is a Washington nonprofit organization, devoted to informing public employees about their legal rights regarding union membership and dues payment obligations. At issue here are the Foundation's requests for public records pertaining to Individual Providers ("IP's"), pursuant to the Public Records Act, RCW ch. 42.56, *et seq.* (the "PRA"), and the delay of the Washington State Department of Social and Health Services' ("DSHS") in releasing those records. The Foundation asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' published decision set forth in Part II.

II. DECISION BELOW.

The Foundation requests that this Court grant review of the published opinion issued by Division Two of the Court of Appeals on August 6, 2019, *see* Appendix, Published Opinion No. 51498-2-II ("Op." or the Opinion"), affirming the trial court's erroneous determinations: (i) that DSHS's estimate of time to respond was reasonable, (ii) that DSHS did not unlawfully distinguish between the Foundation and the Training Partnership, and (iii) that DSHS did not violate the PRA by failing to produce the records to the Foundation on June 9, 2017.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

The following issues merit Supreme Court review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), as conflicting with the decisions of this Court, and RAP 13.4(b)(4), as presenting an issue of substantial public interest:

- 1. Whether DSHS' refusal to produce the available records on June 9, 2017 is contrary to the letter of the PRA, and to Washington Supreme Court precedent as set forth in *Wade's Eastside Gun Shop, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 185 Wn.2d 270, 372 P.3d 97 (2016).
- 2. Whether the Freedom Foundation and the Training Partnership were similarly situated requesters, such that DSHS' disparate treatment of those parties was discriminatory and unlawful.
- 3. Whether an individualized analysis is required under the PRA before agencies provide reasonable estimates of the time required to respond to a public record request.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The summary of the facts and procedural posture of this case, as presented by Division Two of the Court of Appeals ("Div. II") in the Opinion, are largely correct. On April 25, 2017, the Foundation submitted a public records request to DSHS, for the following records (the "Request"):

1. The times, dates, and locations of all contracting appointments for individual providers, as defined by RCW 74.39A.240(3), held or to be held between January 1 and December 31, 2017.

2. The times, dates, and locations of all state-sponsored or facilitated opportunities for individual providers to view the initial safety orientation training videos held or to be held between January 1 and December 31, 2017.

CP 42-43.

The Foundation had made the same request for records in January, 2016, which led to litigation wherein the Foundation prevailed. *See SEIU 775 v. DSHS*, 198 Wn. App. 745, 396 P.3d 369 (2017), *review denied* 189 Wn.2d 1011 (2017).

On April 25, 2017, the same day the Court of Appeals ruled in favor of the Foundation in the foregoing matter, the Foundation made the above Request. CP 42-43. On May 1, 2017, DSHS staff held a meeting to discuss the Foundation's new Request, as its 'five-day letter" was due the following day, May 2, 2017. CP 293; RCW 42.56.520(1). During that meeting, DSHS determined that the requested records were held in various offices of the Area Agencies on Aging ("AAA"). CP 293. The only other topic discussed during this meeting was the means by which potentially-affected third parties might enjoin disclosure. CP 160, 171. At no time did meeting participants ask how long it would take AAA offices to produce the Foundation's requested records. CP 160-161. Nor did any of the staff ask how long it had taken to produce the nearly identical records from the Foundation's January, 2016 request. *Id*.

On May 2, 2017, DSHS notified SEIU 775 and the Training Partnership of the Foundation's Request (CP 273-274, 294-295), and sent a five-day letter to the Foundation. In the five-day letter, Ms. Natasha House (of the DSHS Public Records Officer) estimated that it would take up to thirty (30) business days for DSHS to produce the records to the Foundation. CP 311-312. In the letters to SEIU 775 and the Training Partnership, Ms. House provided clear instructions on how SEIU 775 and the Training Partnership could go about obtaining a court order enjoining the release of the records, and advised that they must do so by May 16, 2017. CP 273-274, 294-295.

In the following days, a number of AAA offices responded to DSHS' request for records that were responsive to the Foundation's request. CP 275-285. On May 8, 2017, the Training Partnership responded to DSHS' May 2 letter by submitting a public record request seeking the records that the Foundation was requesting. CP 296. On May 11, the Training Partnership, through counsel, followed up with DSHS and informed them that it did not believe that there were any records which pertained to the Training Partnership. CP 303. DSHS sent the first installment of the requested records to the Training Partnership on May 12, 2017. CP 170. DSHS also sent the Training Partnership a letter stating that the second and final installment would be sent to them by June 2, 2017. *Id.* DSHS also

provided a ten (10) day extension of the deadline for SEIU 775 and Training Partnership to receive a court order. CP 297.

Between May 15, 2017, and June 9, 2017, there was a stay on production of both the Foundation's Request and that of the Training Partnership; this was due to the ongoing litigation regarding the January, 2016 requests. On June 9, 2017, the Court of Appeals dissolved the stay on the Foundation's public record request. CP 119. That same day, DSHS produced the second and final installment to the Training Partnership, and again extended the deadline for a court order to June 12, 2017 – without any prompting or request from the Training Partnership. CP 299.

The Foundation sent an email to Ms. House on June 9, 2017, requesting that the records be produced by close of business, as the stay had been dissolved. CP 307-309. DSHS responded that there was no change to their planned release date of June 13, 2017. CP 307-309. However, on June 13 the Supreme Court Commissioner stayed production of the Foundation's request until July 10, 2017, in order to preserve the litigation regarding the Foundation's 2016 request. On July 10, 2017, the Supreme Court upheld the Court of Appeal's findings, and required that DSHS produce the requested records.

//

//

V. ARGUMENT.

A. Introduction & Summary of Argument.

Petitioner respectfully requests this Court review Division Two's Opinion because it is in conflict with a decision of this Court, and because this case involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(4).

It is apparent that the Opinion is in conflict with this Court's decision in *Wade's Eastside Gun Shop, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 185 Wn.2d 270, 372 P.3d 97 (2016) ("*Wade's*"), in") because the Opinion ignores the plain meaning of that case, finding that DSHS gave an extension to the Training Partnership to seek an injunction (instead of to blatantly withhold the records from the Foundation). The Opinion's misapplication of the reasonable time estimate principle in *Wade's* similarly runs afoul of *West v. Dep't of Licensing*, 182 Wn. App. 500, 331 P.3d 72 (2014) with regard to the individualized scope, type, and volume analysis of the reasonable time estimate by the agency.

These issues, as well as the Opinion's unlawful sanctioning of DSHS' conduct in distinguishing amongst requestors, impact the central concerns of the PRA and Washington's focus on transparent governance, and therefore review by this Court is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Opinion effectively allows agencies to delay disclosure with no limit,

whatsoever, and accepts a standard for "reasonable belief" that would turn the law of this State on its head.

B. The Opinion Conflicts With *Wade's* By Sanctioning DSHS' Disregard of Its Duty to Requestors.

The Opinion's analysis of *Wade's* as applied to this case mistakenly creates a distinction between the case at hand and the facts in Wade's. The Opinion brushes off the Foundation's invocation of *Wade's* as simply being factually dissimilar, mistakenly believing that DSHS was not required to release the records in question on June 9, 2017 because the records were not yet "available" (only because DSHS had extended the deadline for the Training Partnership to obtain an injunction) (Appendix at 18). The Opinion thus gives license to DSHS, and other similarly situated agencies, to continue to extend the deadlines which they set for an affected party¹ to seek an injunction unreasonably beyond their initial deadlines, and beyond what this Court in Wade's expressed as a reasonable time estimate and extensions. Wade's put it best when it said: "While agencies may provide a reasonable estimate of when they can produce the requested records, they cannot use that estimated date as an excuse to withhold records that are no longer exempt from disclosure." Wade's Eastside Gun Shop, Inc., 185

-

¹ The Foundation still contends that the Training Partnership is not and was not an affected party in this case and will address that matter below (*see infra*, at Section C); however, for the sake of argument here will address the Training Partnership as an affected party.

Wn.2d 270, 289 (2016) (internal citation removed). DSHS roundly violated that admonition here, and the Court of Appeals erroneously endorsed its unlawful conduct.

1. The Foundation should have received the first installment of the records on June 9, 2017, as DSHS had not received a court order preventing the release and the stay had been lifted.

In *Wade's*, the Department of Labor and Industries ('L&I'') responded within five (5) days to the Seattle Times' Public Record Request that the records requested were part of open investigations and would not be available until the investigations closed, and indicated that the investigations would be complete by August 9, 2013. *See* 185 Wn.2d at 284. The Superior Court subsequently concluded that L&I's investigation concluded on March 22, 2013, due to a letter that L&I sent to one of the complaining individuals setting forth the results of L&I's investigation. *Id.*, at 285. The Superior Court concluded that if L&I could release the information to the individual who complained, it could also release some or all of the requested files to the Seattle Times. *Id.*

DSHS has placed the Foundation into the same position as the Seattle Times in *Wade's*. On May 12, 2017, DSHS released some of the requested records to the Training Partnership, and simultaneously extended the deadline for the Training Partnership to obtain an injunction from May 16, 2017 to May 26, 2017. (Appendix at 4) On May 16, the Division Two

of the Court of Appeals issued a stay prohibiting the release of the records responsive to the April, 2017, Request pending further briefing. DSHS was unable to release the second and final installment to the Training Partnership, or any of the documents to the Foundation, at this time. There was nothing preventing the Training Partnership from filing a complaint to seek an injunction preventing the Foundation from receiving the records which had been requested. However, at no time between May 12 and May 26 did the Training Partnership seek such relief. Once the stay was lifted on June 9, 2017, and DSHS had not received a court order preventing the release of the records from the Training Partnership, the Foundation should have received at the *very* least the first installment of the record from DSHS. Similar to the facts in *Wade's*, there was nothing preventing the agency from releasing the records, even though the release would occur prior to the date estimated.

2. The Opinion misconstrues both Wade's and the RCW's regarding the opportunity for an "affected party" to obtain a court order.

The Opinion, however, states that "[h]ere, unlike in *Wade*, the requested records were not available to produce to the Foundation on June 9. On that date, DSHS extended the deadline for the Training Partnership to obtain an injunction to prevent disclosure of the records until the end of the day on June 12." Op., at 5. This demonstrates a fundamental misunderstanding of the duty that agencies owe to requesters and "affected

parties." (Appendix at 18) As this Court recognized in *Wade's*, it is true that the PRA provides opportunity for public agencies to notify affected persons of a public record request and permits reasonable delay for a "realistic opportunity" to obtain a protective order. *Wade's*, 158 Wn.2d at 291; *see* RCW 42.56.520 and RCW 42.56.540. This leeway for a "realistic opportunity" can be abused, however, such as when the agency provides an original deadline to seek a court order of May 16, 2017, extends that deadline to May 26, and then *again* extends the deadline to June 12, 2017.

The Superior Court in *Wade's* imposed a penalty upon L&I when they voluntarily withheld the records even "...after the subjects missed L&I's deadline and failed to obtain or even seek a judicial order." *Wade's*, 158 Wn.2d at 293. This is exactly what DSHS did when the Training Partnership missed each of its deadlines, in spite of the duty which DSHS owed to the Foundation as the requester, and DSHS purposefully and voluntarily withheld the requested records from the Foundation. There was absolutely nothing preventing this agency from releasing the records to the Foundation on June 9th when there was no stay in place, the Training Partnership had missed its deadline to receive a court order, and the Training Partnership had been in possession of the first installment of the records since May 12, 2017. By June 9, 2017, twenty-eight (28) days had passed since the Training Partnership received the records and more than enough

time had expired for the Training Partnership to have obtained a court order. It was erroneous for Division Two to wave away the Foundation's contentions that DSHS was in violation of both *Wade's* and the RCW's simply because DSHS decided, with no valid or explainable reason, to provide the Training Partnership with an additional extension beyond the ten (10) days it received initially, or the additional fourteen (14) days the Training Partnership received by virtue of the Court of Appeals' stay. By permitting such a unilateral determination by DSHS, the Court of Appeals clearly misapplied Supreme Court precedent.

C. The Foundation and the Training Partnership Were Similarly Situated, and DSHS' Disparate Treatment Was Thus Unlawful.

RCW 42.56.080 unequivocally provides that "[a]gencies shall not distinguish among persons requesting records...". The Public Records Act does not provide for a potentially affected party to receive a higher degree of assistance from the agency after it is provided notice of the request. In fact, the only mention of an "affected party" in the RCWs is at 42.56.540 where the PRA says that the agency has the "option of notifying persons named in the record or to whom a record specifically pertains, that release of the record has been requested." There is no evidence that agencies are required to provide anything more –, which the Opinion acknowledges when it says that in some situations it may be difficult for an affected party

to know whether to seek an injunction without first seeing. (Appendix at 15). While this policy argument has validity, it simultaneously does not create a requirement that an agency is required to provide records to an individual when it is aware that the subject matter of the requested records. (Appendix at 15).

The Opinion oversimplifies the Foundation's argument in finding, based on no evidence, that the Training Partnership was an "affected party" and then stating that the Training Partnership was entitled to receive the records before the Foundation, by virtue of that status. (Appendix at 13-16). This analysis falls apart at the initial stage of ascertaining whether SEIU 775 and/or the Training Partnership was an "affected party."

The Training Partnership was not at any time an affected third party. There is evidence that SEIU 775 was potentially affected by this Request, as SEIU 775 had brought the original lawsuit that precipitated the events here. *See SEIU 775 v. DSHS*, 198 Wn. App. 745, 396 P.3d 369 (2017), *review denied*, 189 Wn.2d 1011 (2017). SEIU 775 was also the party which was contacted by DSHS after the Foundation made the April 25, 2017, Request. CP 273-274. DSHS sent the Training Partnership its own notice informing it of the Request, CP 294-295, demonstrating that DSHS viewed SEIU 775 and the Training Partnership as distinct entities. DSHS was then informed on May 11, 2017 via a letter from Ms. Hamburger, counsel for the

Petition for Discretionary Review – No. 51498-2-II

Training Partnership, that the Foundation's Request had nothing to do with her client whatsoever. CP 303-304.

In fact, Ms. Hamburger specifically stated:

In any event, as far as I know, there are no documents reflecting "times, dates, and locations" for Individual Providers to view the safety and orientation training video provided by the Training Partnership. The Training Partnership provides opportunities for Individual Providers to view the safety and training video via its web portal at any time, date or location convenient to the IP. The Training Partnership does not schedule or establish a specific physical location for the viewing of the video. As I understand it, DSHS does not "sponsor or facilitate" any schedule or physical location for the viewing of the Training Partnership's safety and orientation training video.

CP 303.

As of May 11, 2017 DSHS, had no reasonable basis for believing that the Training Partnership was an affected third party. The Opinion's conclusion that "[h]ere, the Foundation requested the times and locations of opportunities for individual providers to view training videos. DSHS reasonably could have believed that the Training Partnership was a person 'to whom the record specifically pertains,'" (Appendix at 13) finds no substantiation in the evidence presented below. It may have been acceptable for DSHS to send notice to the Training Partnership on May 2, 2017, out of an abundance of caution, but it was neither reasonable nor acceptable for DSHS to continue to treat the Training Partnership as an affected third party as of May 11, 2017. Indeed, the Training Partnership became at that time a

requester of records, as evidenced by the public record request identifying number, "DSHS Request ID # 201705 PRR 395," provided to the Training Partnership on May 12, 2017, via letter. CP 297.

Additionally, while it was not discussed in detail in the Opinion, there was no evidence that the Training Partnership qualified under the Washington Administrative Code (WAC) 44-14-04003(12). That regulation provides that prior to sending a notice to an affected third party, the agency should have a reasonable belief that the record is arguably exempt, and as such it recognizes that notices which are sent to affected third parties when the records could *not* reasonably be considered exempt have the effect of unreasonably delaying the requestor's access to a disclosable record. DSHS explicitly stated that it believes that the records are disclosable, in its letters to both SEIU 775 and the Training Partnership, demonstrating that the records themselves are not exempt. CP 273-274; 294-295.

In a similar vein, DSHS did not meet its own administrative policy for notifying third parties. DSHS' policy states that there are two (2) instances when the agency should notify third parties about a request. The first is when it is required by law or other agency rules, and the second is where the identified party may have a reasonable basis to claim that the information in the records is exempt from production. CP 238-251. Neither

Petition for Discretionary Review – No. 51498-2-II

of these situations was presented to DSHS here. There was not a law or rule in place which required notice, and additionally DSHS was aware that the Court of Appeals had as of April 25, 2017, ruled that the Foundation was entitled to all of the records that were now again being requested. The Opinion posits that SEIU 775 still had the opportunity to seek review from the Supreme Court on this issue, thereby rendering its own prior words meaningless, but fails to acknowledge that the Training Partnership is neither SEIU 775, nor is it in the same position as SEIU 775. (Appendix at 13).

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