FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/6/2019 3:06 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97621-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FREEDOM FOUNDATION,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MARGARET C. McLEAN Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 27558

SUSAN SACKETT DANPULLO Senior Counsel WSBA No. 24249

Labor and Personnel Division PO Box 40145 Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 664-4167 OID No. 91032

III.	STATEMENT OF FACTS.			
	A.	January 12, 2016, Foundation Public Records Request	2	
	В.	April 25, 2017, Foundation Public Records Request	3	
	C.	After the Court of Appeals Lifted Its Injunction, the Supreme Court Promptly Enjoined Release	6	
IV.	ARGUMENT			
	A.	The Department Provided a Reasonable Estimate of Time in Response To the Foundation's Public Record Request	7	
	В.	The Foundation Was Not Similarly Situated To the Partnership	10	
	C.	The Department Appropriately Provided the Partnership with Two Business Days To Obtain an Injunction	12	
V	CO	NCI LISION	16	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

<u>Rules</u> RAP 8.3			
RCW 74.39A360(1)(a)	11		
RCW 74.39A.074(1)(d)(i)(A)–(B)			
RCW 74.09.520(5)	4		
RCW 42.56.540	13		
RCW 42.56.520(2)	13		
RCW 42.56.520(1)	8		
<u>Statutes</u>			
Wade's Eastside Gun Shop, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., 185 Wn.2d 270, 372 P.3d 97 (2016)	15		
SEIU 775 v. State Dep't of Soc. and Health Serv., 198 Wn. App. 745, 396 P.3d 369 (2017)2	2, 3		
Ralph v. State Dep't of Nat. Res., 182 Wn.2d 242, 343 P.3d 342 (2014)	14		
Ockerman v. King Cty. Dep't of Envtl. Serv., 102 Wn. App. 212, 6 P.3d 1214 (2000)	8		
Hobbs v. Wash. State Auditor's Office, 183 Wn. App. 925, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014)	13		

I. INTRODUCTION

The Department of Social and Health Services (Department) worked diligently to comply with the Public Records Act (PRA) in this matter in the midst of ongoing and active litigation against it by both Service Employees International Union 775 (SEIU 775) and the Freedom Foundation (Foundation). Within five days of the Foundation's public record request, Department staff reviewed and discussed the request and provided a reasonable estimate of the time it would need to gather, compile, and produce the requested records. The Department produced the records to the Foundation immediately upon the expiration of a Supreme-Court order prohibiting release.

Further, the Department-acted within the scope of the PRA in providing timely notice to third persons of its intent to produce information to the Foundation, and provided the fullest assistance to the Foundation in fulfilling its request. The Court of Appeals agreed, affirmed the superior court's decision, and upheld the Department's actions. This Court should decline the Foundation's Petition for Discretionary Review (Petition).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Department provided a reasonable estimate of time in its five-day response to the Foundation.
- 2. Whether the Foundation, as the requester of records, and the SEIU Training Partnership (Partnership), as a potentially

- affected third person, are similarly situated with respect to receiving records.
- 3. Whether the Department appropriately provided the Partnership two business days to obtain an injunction after providing copies of the responsive records.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves the interplay of two separate Foundation record requests to the Department and several stays issued by the Court of Appeals and this Court. While the Foundation's Petition alleges violations only with respect to the 2017 PRA request, the litigation surrounding the 2016 PRA request provides critical context.

A. January 12, 2016, Foundation Public Records Request

On January 12, 2016, the Foundation submitted a public record request to the Department seeking "[t]he times and locations of all contracting appointments" and "state-sponsored or facilitated opportunities for individual providers to view the initial safety and orientation training videos" between November 1, 2015, and December 31, 2016 (2016 records request). Clerk's Papers (CP) at 40; SEIU 775 v. State Dep't of Soc. and Health Serv., 198 Wn. App. 745, 748, 396 P.3d 369 (2017). The Department provided third person notification of the 2016 records request to SEIU 775, the bargaining representative for individual providers (providers), which then sought a preliminary and permanent restraining order in Thurston

County Superior Court. When the restraining orders were denied, SEIU 775 appealed to the Court of Appeals. *See id.* at 747–48

On April 7, 2016, the Court of Appeals enjoined the Department from disclosing the requested information about contracting appointments and opportunities for providers to view safety and orientation trainings, "pending further order of this court." CP at 398. The Court of Appeals later clarified that this order would remain in effect until it issued a mandate. CP at 418; *accord* RAP 8.3.

On April 25, 2017, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion holding that the 2016 records were subject to disclosure to the Foundation. *SEIU* 775, 198 Wn. App. at 745. Within minutes of the Court of Appeals having sent its decision to the parties, the Foundation sent an email demanding release of the 2016 records that same day. CP at 406–07.

B. April 25, 2017, Foundation Public Records Request

Shortly after the Court of Appeals issued its April 25, 2017, opinion, the Foundation sent a new public record request to the Department for the same information as in the 2016 records request, but for the period of January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017 (2017 records request). CP at 42–43.

The following day, SEIU 775 filed an emergency motion with the Court of Appeals seeking clarification, among other things, of whether the

Court's April 7, 2016, injunction prohibited the Department from releasing records in response to the Foundation's 2017 records request. CP at 422–37. Following a later motion for clarification filed by the Department, the Court of Appeals ultimately, on May 15, 2017, issued a stay prohibiting release of the 2017 records until it received briefing from the parties and made a decision on the Department's motion related to the 2017 records request. CP at 60–61.

In the meantime, on May 1, 2017, the Department's Public Record Office held an internal meeting to discuss an estimate of the time needed to gather, review, and produce responsive records. CP at 160; see also CP at 137. The records were not located in a central location, so the Department realized it would need to contact and hear back from its three Department regional offices, as well as 14 different Area Agency on Aging offices, to gather the requested information. CP at 137, 159, 171. Area Agencies on Aging are separate entities that contract with the Department to provide case management to clients needing in-home care. RCW 74.09.520(5). The Department provided notice to the Foundation that it would take up to 30 business days, or until June 13, 2017, to produce the records "[d]ue to workload, the number of other pending requests and the scope of [the Foundation's] request." CP at 21.

The estimate of time took into account the status of other public record requests the Department was processing. On April 25, 2017, the Department received 79 other public record requests. CP at 230. Between April 25, 2017, and June 13, 2017, the Department received 2,767 public record requests. CP at 135–36, 475. Of the 2,767 requests, the Foundation made three of those requests. CP at 475. During this same time, the Department closed 2,698 public record requests. *Id.* The Foundation also made numerous requests prior to April 25, 2017, that the Department was processing. CP at 476.

On May 2, 2017, the Department provided notice of the Foundation's-2017 records request to the possibly affected third persons, the Partnership and SEIU 775. CP 137, 294–95. The notice stated that any protective orders would need to be obtained by May 16, 2017. CP 294–95. On May 8, 2017, and May 11, 2017, the Partnership followed up with the Department, repeatedly noting that it had not yet received the information the Department believed was responsive, and stating that it could not know whether to seek injunctive relief without being able to see what the agency planned to produce. The Partnership asked the Department to provide the documents to it as soon as possible, in order to determine if it would seek a protective order. CP at 296, 303–04. On May 12, 2017, the Department responded to the Partnership providing the limited records that

it had collected at the time and stating that any protective order would need to be provided to the Department by May 26, 2017. CP 161, 297.

As noted above, on May 15, 2017, the Court of Appeals issued a stay prohibiting the Department from releasing records in response to the 2017 records request. CP at 60–61. As a result of the stay, the Department did not send the Partnership, as a potentially-affected third person, additional records responsive to the Foundation's 2017 records request for review. CP at 163.

C. After the Court of Appeals Lifted Its Injunction, the Supreme Court Promptly Enjoined Release

On Friday, June 9, 2017, the Court of Appeals clarified that the Department was not enjoined from releasing the 2017 records sought by the Foundation. CP at 119. The parties received the ruling from the Court of Appeals, and the Foundation emailed counsel for the Department the same day demanding that the Department produce the requested 2017 records within two hours. The email stated, "[i]f we do not have the schedules by that time, we will seek fees. There is no order preventing their release, and [the Department] has had more than enough time to run the queries for the schedules." CP at 307–09.

The same day that it received clarification from the Court of Appeals, the Department provided the remaining records to the Partnership

for its review as a potentially affected third person. CP at 161. The Department informed the Partnership that any protective order must be provided to the Department by close of business on Monday, June 12, 2017, *Id.*, allowing only one business day to seek a protective order.

On the following business day after the stay was lifted, June 12, 2017, SEIU 775 notified the parties of its intent to seek emergency relief in the Supreme Court, where its petition for review of the Court of Appeals opinion was pending. SEIU 775 filed a motion for emergency relief the same day. CP at 447–48. On June 13, 2017, the day the records were scheduled to be released to the Foundation, the Supreme Court issued a ruling enjoining the Department from releasing the 2017 records to the Foundation until the deadline for SEIU 775 to file a motion for discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decision on the stay related to the 2017 records request. CP at 121–23.

The Supreme Court's stay of release of the 2017 records expired on July 10, 2017. *Id.* The Department produced the records to the Foundation on July 11, 2017. CP at 163.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Department Provided a Reasonable Estimate of Time in Response To the Foundation's Public Record Request

The Department acted reasonably in estimating the time it needed to respond to the Foundation's request. An agency must respond to public record requests promptly, within five business days of receiving the request, and the agency must respond in one of the following ways: (1) provide the records; (2) provide an internet link for the records; (3) acknowledge the request and give a reasonable estimate of time it will need to provide the records; or (4) deny the request. RCW 42.56.520(1).

RCW 42.56.520(2) specifically provides that an agency may need additional time to process a public record request when it is required to locate and assemble records or to notify third persons affected by the request. See also Ockerman v. King Cty. Dep't of Envtl. Serv., 102 Wn. App. 212, 219, 6 P.3d 1214 (2000). In Ockerman, there was no single file where the requested records were located, and the records were held in different locations, requiring that they be gathered and assembled. In that case, the court held that King County had reasonably estimated its response time to allow for that, despite the fact that a similar request had been made one month prior, and it had only taken two days to respond to the prior request. Id. at 218-19.

Here, the Department considered numerous factors in determining that thirty days was a reasonable estimate of time. On May 1, 2017, the Department held an internal meeting to discuss how to estimate the time

needed to produce responsive records. This meeting included the Department's Public Records Officer, as well as representatives from both the Aging and Long-Term Care Administration and the Developmental Disabilities Administration. CP at 160, 293. At that meeting, the Department considered that the records were located at 14 different Area Agency on Aging offices, which were not under the Department's direct control, as well as three regional offices within the Department itself. CP at 137, 159, 171. It also considered the number of other pending public record requests the agency was processing, including numerous requests filed by the Freedom Foundation, and over 2,000 other pending requests. CP at 135–36, 475. Additionally, the Department considered the likely need for third person notification prior to-disclosure, as it knew that SEIU 775 was in the midst of ongoing appellate litigation trying to prevent the release of almost identical 2016 records, and that the Court of Appeals had not yet issued a mandate in that case. CP at 137, 155, 157

The Court of Appeals decision applied the well-settled legal standards and properly determined that, based on the information known to the Department at the time of the request, it had reasonably estimated the length of time it might need to produce responsive documents. The Foundation provides no support for its contention that the Department should have spent additional staff time conducting an even more detailed

inquiry into the expected response time. Nor does the Foundation attempt to address that such a requirement would necessarily take time that Department staff would otherwise spend fulfilling records requests. There is no need for this Court to review this issue, as it is not an issue of significant public interest, involves a well-settled area of the law, and is supported by undisputed facts.

B. The Foundation Was Not Similarly Situated To the Partnership

The Department treated the Foundation and the Partnership differently in this case because were not similarly situated. The Foundation was the public record requestor in this instance. The Partnership was a potentially affected third person. The Department appropriately provided the Partnership with notice and an opportunity to review the records that appeared to pertain to it prior to disclosure, as the PRA contemplates. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the Department's provision of records to a potentially affected third person prior to disclosure does not violate the PRA. This issue does not warrant review by this Court. The Foundation was the requester of records. It made a public record request for the dates and times of training prepared and presented by SEIU 775 and the Partnership. CP at 42-43. Additionally, the Department was navigating this public record request in the midst of contentious ongoing appellate litigation between the Foundation and SEIU 775 over the exact type of information requested in

the instant public record request, and it was well aware that SEIU 775 might choose to seek injunctive relief prohibiting the Department from disclosing the information.

The Partnership was a potentially-affected third person. All training presented to providers represented by SEIU 775 must be provided by the Partnership. RCW 74.39A360(1)(a). Specifically, the Partnership is responsible for providing the orientation and safety training for providers. RCW 74.39A.074(1)(d)(i)(A)–(B).

The Department appropriately provided the Partnership, as a potentially-affected third person, an opportunity to review the records that appeared to pertain to it. The Court of Appeals correctly relied on this Court's holding in *Confederated Tribes of Chehalis Reservation*, quoting this Court: "Implicit in the statutory right to seek an injunction to prevent disclosure is a realistic opportunity to apply to the trial court for such an order." Decision at 14, citing 135 Wn.2d at 758. Because preventing disclosure requires identification of the basis for disclosure, a realistic opportunity to apply will frequently require review of the records. Absent the opportunity to review, third persons may not even know what records are at issue, much less whether an exemption applies in the context of that record. This would have the effect of rendering the provisions for notice and an opportunity to seek injunctive relief meaningless.

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